# Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs

2004

# Wesley O. Bayles v. Linda Caryl Bayles : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Rules 3(a) and 4(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, and Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(c), confer jurisdiction upon this court to hear this appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES & STANDARD OF REVIEW

**Issue No. 1:** Petitioner/Appellant is entitled to specific performance, relative to the purchase of Respondent/Appellee's one-half interest in both the Personal Residence and the Lake Property.

**Issue No. 2:** It was judicial error, and/or an abuse of the discretion, for the trial court to <u>not</u> allow Petitioner/Appellant to deduct the same costs as if the properties had been sold to bona fide third party purchasers.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The issues attendant to the parties' divorce were tried by the Honorable Thomas L. Kay, Second Judicial District Court Judge on October 1 and 2, 2002. Petitioner/Appellant's then counsel prepared proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Respondent/Appellee filed an objection to the proposed documents. Subsequent to the objection, on or about November 15, 2002, Respondent/Appellee filed a "Withdrawal of Objection to Form of Findings and Decree" in which it was represented to the trial court that

...counsel for the parties have resolved the issues concerning the form of the documents and counsel for Respondent has approved as to form the acceptable Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and the Decree of Divorce. Respondent prays that the documents which have been approved as to form be signed and entered by the Court as soon as received.

See, Withdrawal of Objection, page 138 of the Second District Court file provided as the Record on Appeal to this Court.

2. On or about November 25, 2005, the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce were signed by the Honorable Thomas L, Kay, Second Judicial District Court

Judge and entered by the Second Judicial District Court Clerk. Within the Decree of Divorce, the Petitioner/Appellant was

awarded a right of first refusal for the purchase of any and all of the California properties. Upon acceptance of any bona fide offer to purchase a California property, the petitioner shall receive written notice of the acceptance of the offer and shall have thirty (30) days from the receipt of said notice to provide written noticeof his election to purchase the property on the same terms as the bona fide offer. If petitioner exercises the right of first refusal, he shall pay respondent the amount she would receive from the sale of that parcel, said payment to be made within 30 days of the time he exercise his right of first refusal.

See, Decree of Divorce, page 4, paragraph 15, page 170 of the Second District Court file provided as the Record on Appeal to this Court.

3. Petitioner/Appellant was also ordered to pay Respondent/Appellee alimony in the sum of \$1,000.00 per month.

until terminated by the Court or upon the remarriage or cohabitation of the respondent, the death of either party, or upon the occurrence of any event, which, under Utah law, shall cause alimony to cease.

See, Decree of Divorce, page 6, paragraph 23, page 172 of the Second District Court file provided as the Record on Appeal to this Court.

- 4. The parties owned several parcels of real property, which were found to be joint marital property and the Decree of Divorce ordered to be sold, subject to Petitioner/Appellant's right of first refusal. Of those properties, only two are the subject of this Appeal and are described as follows:
- a. land and associated improvements located at 10695 Forbestown Road, Yuba County, California, herein after referred to as the "Personal Residence; and"
- b. land and associated improvements located at 10691 Forbestown Road, Yuba County, California, herein after referred to as the "Lake Property."

- 5. In June 2003, Petitioner/Appellant discovered, through a court pleading filed by Respondent/Appellee, that Respondent/Appellee had received and accepted a bona fide "Purchase Agreement" offer from a third party. Respondent/Appellee failed to provide Petitioner/Appellant notice that Respondent/Appellee had accepted a bona fide offer as required by the Decree of Divorce entered in this matter. See, Decree of Divorce, page 4, paragraph 15, Page 170 of the Record on Appeal as provided by the Second Judicial District Court.
- 6. Petitioner/Appellant provided a written offer to Respondent/Appellee (Trial Transcript, page 27, lines 21-23) which included his offer to purchase Respondent/Appellee's interest in the property for \$39,286.74 and tendered payment in that amount. This amount was designated by Petitioner/Appellant as a "good faith" estimate of the actual amount Respondent/Appellee would receive from the sale of the property pursuant to the terms "Purchase Agreement" offer Respondent/Appellee had received and accepted. Petitioner/Appellant included a copy of his calculations in the form of an "Estimated Settlement Statement," as part of the written offer and tender of payment. Petitioner/Appellant also provided Respondent/Appellee with a quit claim deed for the subject property. Petitioner/Appellant's offer was not, and could not have been, an exercise of his "right of first refusal," as Respondent/Appellee had failed and refused to notify Petitioner/Appellant of her acceptance of a bona fide offer.
- 7. Petitioner/Appellant's tender of payment was his offer to purchase the property, with the sole condition being transfer of the title to the property upon negotiation of the funds tendered for payment of the real property. Petitioner/Appellant's offer to purchase the real property was not subject to the same terms as the offer Respondent/Appellee had received from a third party.

- 8. Respondent/Appellee negotiated that \$39,286.74 payment (Trial Transcript, page 102, lines 6 and 7), which consisted of two money orders and a cashier's check. However, Respondent/Appellee did not return the "quit claim deed" that was to be signed, notarized and returned to Petitioner/Appellant upon receipt of tender of the purchase price offered by Petitioner/Appellant. Instead, Respondent/Appellee informed Petitioner/Appellant that, despite receiving the "sales agreement" from Petitioner/Appellant and negotiating the payments, those monies were insufficient for her to return the signed and notarized quit claim deed for the Personal Residence.
- 9. Upon receipt of Respondent/Appellee's notice of alleged insufficiency in the monies she received, Petitioner/Appellant immediately notified Respondent/Appellee that he would not agree to any additional conditions on the "sale" of the Personal Residence. Petitioner/Appellant also requested that Respondent/Appellee immediately return the \$39,286.74 he had paid Respondent/Appellee for the sole purpose of payment of the "sales" price for the Personal Residence.
- 10. Respondent/Appellee refused to refund those monies or abide by the terms of the sale proposed by Petitioner/Appellant. Instead, Respondent/Appellee prepared a completely new quit claim deed, using what appeared to be an Oklahoma quit claim deed form, which she had signed and notarized. (Trial Transcript, page 32, lines 15-17.) Petitioner/Appellant filed the "quit claim deed" in the County of Yuma, State of California and ownership of the Personal Residence was transferred to Petitioner/Appellant.
- Agent, that Respondent/Appellee had received, and intended to accept, a bona fide "Purchase Agreement" offer from a third party for the "Lake Property."

- 12. Petitioner/Appellant mailed Respondent/Appellee a \$15,044.26 payment, which was specifically designated as the first portion of Respondent/Appellee's one-half share of the estimated net sales proceeds of the Lake Property. Petitioner/Appellant also informed Respondent/Appellee that the balance would be paid within thirty (30) days, as set forth in paragraph 15 of the Decree of Divorce. Petitioner/Appellant did calculate the net proceeds that should be paid to Respondent/Appellee on the same terms as the bona fide "Purchase Agreement" offer Respondent/Appellee had received from a third party.
- 13. Once again, being fully informed of the purpose of those funds, Respondent/Appellee deposited those funds into her bank or otherwise negotiated the payment. Again, Respondent/Appellee failed and refused to return the quit claim deed for the "Lake Property." Instead, Respondent/Appellee informed Petitioner that she had not accepted the bona fide "Purchase Agreement" offer from the third party. Respondent/Appellee informed Petitioner/Appellant that she would neither return the monies Petitioner/Appellant had paid for the sole purpose of purchasing the Lake Property. Instead, Respondent/Appellee informed Petitioner that those monies would first be used to pay the additional \$1,500.00 Respondent/Appellee believed was still owed to her for her interest in the Personal Residence. In addition, Respondent/Appellee informed Petitioner/Appellant that she was keeping \$6,000.00 of those monies to pay future alimony payments. Respondent/Appellee informed Petitioner that remaining \$7,500.00 would either be returned to Petitioner/Appellant or that Respondent/Appellee would apply that only the remaining \$7,500.00 the amount Respondent/Appellee believed would be owed to her if Petitioner/Appellant chose to "purchase" the Lake Property. (Trial Transcript, page 49, lines 13 -25, and page 50, lines 1 -18.) Respondent/Appellee refused to allow Petitioner/Appellant to purchase the Lake Property under the

same terms as the bona fide offer she had previously received and expected Petitioner/Appellant to pay a higher price for the Lake Property.

- 14. Petitioner/Appellant rejected Respondent/Appellee's counteroffer for the Lake Property and, once again, demanded the return of the entire \$15,044.26 he had tendered to Respondent/Appellee for the sole purpose of purchasing the Lake Property. Respondent/Appellee refused to return the monies to Petitioner/Appellant.
- 15. There was no further communication between the parties regarding either of the real properties until Respondent/Appellee filed a Motion for an Order to Show Cause in the Second District Court, in and for Davis County, State of Utah in April of 2004. The trial court's decision after an evidentiary hearing on November 10, 2004, as set forth in the "Order After Hearing," signed and filed by the Court on November 25, 2004.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue No. 1. There is no dispute that Respondent/Appellee was provided a copy of Petitioner/Appellant's "sales" proposal for both the Personal Residence and the Lake Property. There is no dispute that Respondent/Appellee negotiated the payment she received, had the use and benefit of those monies to the detriment of Petitioner/Appellant and refused to return those monies when Petitioner/Appellant refused to accept her modified terms of "sale." There is no dispute that Respondent/Appellee did provide a signed and notarized quit claim deed for the Personal Residence rather than return the purchase price to Petitioner/Appellant. There is no dispute that Respondent/Appellee had the use and benefit of the payment for the Lake Property, to the detriment of Petitioner/Appellant and refused to return those monies when Petitioner/Appellant refused to accept her counteroffer for the Lake Property. The transactions between the parties, as to both

parcels of real property, meet the longstanding "offer, acceptance and tender" requirements of any contract transaction. Respondent/Appellee received the benefit of tender, to the detriment of Petitioner/Appellant and the court's equitable powers do not allow the trial court to modify a transaction simply because one of the parties has come to regret the agreement. Petitioner/Appellant is entitled to specific performance as to both contracts for his purchase of Respondent/Appellee's interest in both the Personal Residence and the Lake Property.

Issue No. 2. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Decree of Divorce are clear as to which costs will be paid from the sales proceeds of the parties' California properties. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce are clear that if Petitioner/Appellant exercised his right of first refusal to "purchase" the property, Petitioner/Appellant would pay Respondent/Appellee the amount she would receive from the sale of the parcel based on the same terms of the bona fide offer pay if the property were sold to a third party. There was no request before the trial court by either party to modify paragraphs 15 and 17 of the Decree of Divorce. The ruling by the trial court, that sales commissions or other estimated closing costs, could not be deducted from the monies to be paid to Respondent/Appellee was a judicial error and/or an abuse of judicial discretion. Petitioner/Appellant should be entitled to deduct the costs that would have been incurred if the properties were sold to a bona fide third party purchaser prior to paying Respondent/Appellee her one-half interest in the subject real properties.

#### **ARGUMENT**

**Issue No. 1:** Petitioner/Appellant is entitled to specific performance relative to the purchase of Respondent/Appellee's one-half interest in both the Personal Residence and the Lake Property.

1. The Utah Supreme Court, in <u>Reed v. Alvey</u>, 610 P.2d 1374 (Utah 1980), found that there is

no principle of equity that demands all the terms of the contract must be set forth in the written agreement. Rather, although an agreement is uncertain or incomplete in some respects, its specific enforcement may nevertheless be decreed where the uncertainty relates to matters which the law makes certain or complete by presumption, rule or custom and usage. Where there is no agreement concerning the terms of payment this Court will alleviate the uncertainty of this aspect of the contract by requiring full payment at the time of the tender of the conveyance.

2. The Utah Supreme Court has long recognized the validity of the rule that "to be enforceable a contract must be sufficiently definite in its terms that the parties know what is required of them." Pitcher v. Lauritzen, 18 Utah 2d 368, 423 P.2d 491; and Cf. Ansorge v. Kane, 244 N.Y. 395, 155 N.E 683. However, in Kierk v. Condrack, 25 Utah 2d 1139 (Utah 1970), the Utah Supreme Court quantified that position by finding that

But like all rules, which are necessarily stated in generality, it is only applicable in the proper circumstances, where the justice of the case requires: as a shield to protect a party from an injustice, and not as a weapon with which to perpetrate an injustice.

- 3. Under the evidence and the particular facts of this case, as well as in <u>Kierk</u>, there is no dispute that Petitioner/Appellant agreed to purchase Respondent/Appellee's interest in the Personal Residence for the price of the \$39,286.74, Respondent/Appellee provide a quit claim to the property and Petitioner/Appellant should be entitled to specific performance as to the Personal Residence or the return of the \$39,286.74 he paid to Respondent/Appellee for the sole purpose of purchasing her one-half interest in the Personal Residence.
- 4. <u>Kierk</u> is also applicable as to specific performance of the purchase of Respondent/Appellee's one-half interest in the Lake Property. Again, Petitioner/Appellant provided Respondent/Appellee a written offer, to include partial payment, with the remainder to be paid within

30 days Respondent/Appellee negotiated the payment and then presented a counteroffer to Petitioner. Again, the Utah Supreme Court found that if only the parties reserve only

the "terms" of payment, they should be obliged to act in good faith in keeping their promises. It would seem inequitable and unjust to permit a seller to simply refuse unreasoningly to perform and seek specious excuses in an attempt to justify his refusal. .... But neither party should be permitted to use the reservation of "terms" to get more than they had promised: the plaintiff to get more land, or the defendants to get more money, nor either to renege on the bargain...

- 5. Respondent/Appellee's acceptance was "positive and unambiguous" as required by the Utah Supreme Court in R.J.Daum Constr. Co. v. Child, 122 Utah 194 (Utah 1952). Respondent/Appellee's actions in negotiating the payment, refusal to return the payment and signing the quit claim deed before a notary and then providing that quit claim deed did not change, add to, or qualify the terms of the offer by Petitioner/Appellant and the contract between the parties for the "sale" of the California properties is complete and "its binding force cannot be affected by subsequent communications unless they amount to a mutual agreement to rescind." Id.
- 6. In this instant dispute, all of Petitioner/Appellant's terms were set forth in the written proposal that was sent to Respondent/Appellee and Petitioner/Appellant tendered his "full payment" and requested "tender of the conveyance." Respondent/Appellee accepted those terms as evidenced by her negotiation of the tender representing Petitioner/Appellant's purchase price Petitioner/Appellant believes that copies of the relevant documents (i.e., purchase agreement, checks and quit claim deed) were entered into the record and are contained in the sealed exhibit envelope in the Second District Court filed designated as the Record on Appeal. Petitioner/Appellant was informed that sealed envelope cannot be opened absent a court order and Petitioner/Appellant is unable to provide copies of those documents at this time.

- 7. In this instant dispute, all of Petitioner/Appellant's terms were set forth in the written proposal that was sent to Respondent/Appellee and Petitioner/Appellant tendered his "full payment" and requested "tender of the conveyance." Respondent/Appellee had the use and benefit of that tender, to the detriment of Petitioner/Appellant. Respondent/Appellee cannot hold the quit claim deed hostage to obtain more money and Petitioner/Appellant is entitled to specific performance as to the transfer of interest in the Personal Residence. Respondent/Appellee cannot hold the quit claim deed hostage to obtain more money and Petitioner/Appellant is entitled to specific performance as to the transfer of Respondent/Appellee's interest in the Personal Residence.
- 8. Similarly, Respondent/Appellee had the use and benefit, to the detriment of Petitioner/Appellant, of the monies paid by Petitioner/Appellant, purchase and transfer of Respondent/Appellee's interest in the Lake Property. Again, Petitioner/Appellant is entitled to specific performance as to the transfer of Respondent/Appellee's interest in the Lake Property.

**Issue No. 2.** It was judicial error and/or an abuse of the discretion for the trial court not to allow Petitioner/Appellant to deduct the same costs as if the properties had been sold to bona fide third party purchasers. The Decree of Divorce is clear as to which costs of sale will be deducted from the sales proceeds prior to the 50/50 division of the net proceeds between the parties.

It is not the province of the court to alter a contract by construction or to make a new contract for the parties; its duty is confined to the interpretation of the one which they have made for themselves, without regard to its wisdom or folly, as the court cannot supply material stipulations or read into the contract words which it does not contain. Jensen v. Kidman, 85 Utah 27 (Utah 1934)

In the interest of promoting stability in titles, modifications in a decree of divorce affecting the "disposition of real property are to be granted only upon a showing of compelling reasons arising from a substantial and material change in circumstances." Williams v. Shearwood, 688 P.2d 475, 476 (Utah 1984) (property divisions should be modified only with great reluctance and upon compelling reasons).

[E]quity should not be used as a lever to realign rights and privileges "voluntarily contracted away simply because one has come to regret the bargain made." <u>Lea v. Bowers</u>, 658 P.2d 1213, 1215 (Utah 1983) (quoting <u>Land v. Land</u>, 605 P.2d 1248, 1250-51 (Utah 1980)). <u>Whitehouse v. Whitehouse</u>, 790 P.2d 57 (1990)

- 9. The trial court does maintain continuing jurisdiction over divorce matters and has the authority to modify a decree of divorce. However, Rule 106 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states that "... proceedings to modify a divorce decree shall be commenced by filing a petition to modify the divorce decree." [emphasis added.] Petitioner/Appellant had filed a petition to modify as to the issue of alimony, but Respondent/Appellee did not file a counter-petition requesting modification of paragraphs 15 and 17 of the Decree of Divorce. Respondent/Appellee filed her Motion for Order to Show Cause, on March 31, 2004 and, at that time, Rule 106 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure included a provision that "No request to modify a decree shall be raised by an order to show cause," which was not deleted until April 1, 2004."
- 10. If this Court finds that Petitioner/Appellant is not entitled to specific performance as to his purchase of Respondent/Appellee's one-half interest in the subject real properties, Petitioner/Appellant must be allowed to deduct the costs of sale as set forth in the parties' Decree of Divorce. Respondent/Appellee has shown no substantial change of circumstances as to terms of sale set forth in the parties' Decree of Divorce. Respondent/Appellee is not entitled to additional monies simply because she now regrets the bargain she made.

#### **CONCLUSION**

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