2004

# Wesley O. Bayles v. Linda Caryl Bayles : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

1. The Petitioner/Appellant has the burden to “marshall the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court’s findings are so lacking in support as to be ‘against the clear weight of the evidence,’ thus making them ‘clearly erroneous’.” Hagan v. Hagan, 810 P.2D 478 (Utah App. 1991). He has failed to meet this burden, and thus the Court must assume that the findings of fact of the trial court are supported by the record.

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it failed to order specific performance. There was no meeting of minds sufficient to create an enforceable contract on the terms claimed by Petitioner/Appellant as to either parcel of property. The parties disagreed about the gross sales price for the “lake property”, and disagreed concerning the expenses which Mr. Bayles was entitled to charge to Mrs. Bayles for the “residence property.” Without an enforceable contract, specific performance is inappropriate for either parcel of property.

3. It was not an abuse of discretion when the trial court refused to permit Mr. Bayles to charge Mrs. Bayles for the same costs as if the properties had been sold to bona fide third party purchasers. The Court retains continuing jurisdiction to make subsequent changes or new orders for distribution of the property as is reasonable and necessary [Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5(3)]. This does not always constitute a modification of decree after a showing of change in circumstances, but also can include clarification, corrections, or adjustments necessary to carry out the intent of the court. Klein v. Klein, 544 P.2d 472

(Utah 1975). The trial court appropriately refused to give Mr. Bayles a windfall at the expense of Mrs. Bayles, refusing to allow him to charge her for expenses he did not incur. This order carried out the trial court's intention to equally divide between the parties the value of the marital properties.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. PETITIONER/APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO MARSHALL THE EVIDENCE AGAINST THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT.**

The Petitioner/Appellant fails to meet the standard of appellate review to overturn the trial court's decision. He has the burden to "marshall the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court's findings are so lacking in support as to be 'against the clear weight of the evidence,' thus making them 'clearly erroneous'." Hagan v. Hagan, 810 P.2D 478 (Utah App. 1991).

Mr. Bayles has not, in "comprehensive and fastidious order, [marshaled] every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings [he] resists." Moon v. Moon, 973 P. 2d 431, 437 (Utah App. 1999) Instead of meeting his burden, Mr. Bayles simply states the facts as he wanted them to be. Some of his stated facts are contrary to his own testimony at the hearing on November 10, 2004. In cases such as this, the Court has stated that it will "...[assume] that the record supports the findings of the trial court and [this Court] proceeds to a review of the accuracy of the lower court's conclusions of law and the application of that law to the case." Shepherd v. Shepherd, 876 P.2d 429, 432 (Utah App. 1994). Even if Mr. Bayles had met the first prong of marshalling the evidence, he has

failed to met the second prong, which calls for an analysis to expose any “fatal flaw in the evidence” sufficient to overturn the trial court’s findings. Moon at 437.

Since Mr. Bayles has not met his burden, this court should find the trial court’s findings are supported by the record.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT REFUSED TO ORDER SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.**

**A. Lake property (10691 Forbestown Road).** The trial court below made a specific finding concerning the purchase by the Mr. Bayles of the “lake property” that “there was no meeting of minds sufficient to establish a contract for sale at a price of \$72,000 between the parties”. Mr. Bayles has not shown that this finding clearly erroneous; therefore, it must stand. With no “meeting of minds sufficient to establish a contract”, there can be no specific performance; there is no contract for the court to enforce with regard to the lake property. Further, the testimony of Mr. Bayles was not that he was making a separate, independent offer for purchase of the property from Mrs. Bayles; rather, he was merely attempting to exercise his right of first refusal. Because Mrs. Bayles had not accepted the third-party offer of \$72,000 for the property, Mr. Bayles had no right of first refusal to purchase the property for \$72,000.

The case of Kier v. Condrack 478 P.2d 327, 25 Utah 2d 139 (Utah 1970) is distinguishable. In the Kier case, the sellers agreed to give buyers an option to purchase a specific parcel of property for the sum of \$23,500 if the option was exercised by a specific date, leaving the payment terms open for negotiation. Both parties agreed to this option;

however, when the buyers gave notice of their intention to exercise the option, proposing to pay by assuming the balance owing on two mortgages and paying the difference in cash, the sellers simply refused to sell at the price previously agreed. The trial court in the Kier case believed that the sellers were not acting in good faith, and were making excuses because they had decided not to sell; therefore, specific performance was ordered, and this was upheld on appeal. However, in the case at hand, there was never an agreement between Mr. Bayles and Mrs. Bayles as to the purchase price for the “lake property”. Mrs. Bayles was highly motivated to sell the property, but not for less than it was worth. Mr. Bayles could not exercise a right of first refusal to purchase for \$72,000, as Mrs. Bayles had never accepted an offer in that amount; and she never gave Mr. Bayles any indication that she was willing to sell to him for that price.

The case of R. J. Daum Construction Co. v. Child, 247 P.2d 817 (Utah 1952) is closer to the situation at hand. Child submitted a bid to Daum in connection with Daum’s bid as general contractor on a government construction job. In return, Daum sent a written contract to Child, which included terms with which Child did not agree and which had not been a part of Child’s original bid. Child refused to enter into a contract, and refused to perform. In finding that there was no binding contract which could be enforced, the Court in that case stated: “...there must be made manifest a definite intention to accept the offer and every part thereof and be presently bound thereby without material reservations or conditions.” (247 P.2d 817, 819). The Court further went on to state at page 820: “An acceptance must be clear, positive, and unambiguous.” That was not the case in Daum, and



it is not the case here. Mrs. Bayles made it very clear that she would not accept an offer of \$72,000, and her position never changed. Without a definite intention by Mrs. Bayles to accept the offer made by Mr. Bayles, without reservations or conditions, there was no binding contract for the “lake property” for \$72,000, and without a binding contract, there can be no specific performance. As stated in Pitcher v. Lauritzen, 423 P.2d 491, 18 Utah 2d 368 (Utah 1967), at page 493, “Specific performance cannot be required unless all terms of the agreement are clear. The Court cannot compel the performance of a contract which the parties did not mutually agree upon.”

Mr. Bayles sent Mrs. Bayles the sum of \$15,000.00 as a partial payment for his offer to purchase, with a promise to pay the balance within thirty (30) days. Mrs. Bayles responded that the offer was not acceptable, but she retained the funds as payment for funds already owed to her by Mr. Bayles. Mr. Bayles never tendered the balance of the purchase price under his offer, nor did he pay the funds into the court, place them in escrow, or make any effort to show that he stood ready, willing and able to complete the purchase on his proposed terms. Further, Mr. Bayles was given the benefit of the funds he paid to Mrs. Bayles which he claims she wrongly retained; \$13,000.00 of those funds were applied by the Court to a prior judgment against him for unpaid alimony, and the balance was applied to offset the additional amount awarded to Mrs. Bayles for the “residence” property. Mrs. Bayles has not received a windfall from the funds sent to her by Mr. Bayles, and her retention of these funds while making it clear that she did not agree with the purchase price proposed by Mr. Bayles did not create a binding contract.

**B. Residence property (10695 Forbestown Road).** Mr. Bayles' attempt to create a contract subject to specific performance for the sale of this property consisted of his providing Mrs. Bayles with a "Seller's Estimated Settlement Statement" claiming that he had expenses of \$66,426.52 (see page 283 of the record on appeal), and tendering payment based on that document. At trial, Mr. Bayles testified that he had not, in fact, incurred all the expenses listed on the "Seller's Estimated Settlement Statement". The Court found specifically that supplying that document was "tantamount to an affirmative representation that Petitioner had, in fact, incurred all those expenses in the amounts shown therein" (§5 of Order After Hearing, page 313 of the record on appeal). The Court further found that Mrs. Bayles was entitled to retain the funds tendered by Mr. Bayles, as she would be entitled receive at least that amount for her share of the residence property.

Mrs. Bayles made it clear that while she agreed with the total sale price for this property of \$145,000, she did not agree that Mr. Bayles was entitled to charge her for expenses he did not incur. This is also comparable to the situation in Daum, where a bid (the equivalent of Mrs. Bayles' agreement to sell for \$145,000) did not create an enforceable contract when countered by a proposed contract with additional terms (Mr. Bayles' submission of the "Seller's Estimated Settlement Statement" with expenses he proposed charging to Mrs. Bayles). Without an enforceable contract for sale at \$145,000 with all the expenses claimed by Mr. Bayles but not actually incurred, specific performance is not appropriate for the "personal residence" either.

Further, it would not be equitable to allow Mr. Bayles to claim specific

performance of a “contract” which was based upon a “Seller’s Estimated Settlement Statement” which represents that he had expenses of \$66,426.52, when in fact he did not incur those expenses. A party to a contract should not be permitted, by a Court doing equity, to specifically enforce a contract based upon a misrepresentation.

**III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION  
WHEN IT DID NOT ALLOW MR. BAYLES TO DEDUCT  
THE SAME COSTS AS IF THE PROPERTIES HAD BEEN SOLD  
TO BONA FIDE THIRD PARTY PURCHASERS.**

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in ordering that Mr. Bayles was not entitled to deduct the same costs as if the properties had been sold to bona fide third party purchasers. Stated another way, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it refused to permit Mr. Bayles to charge Mrs. Bayles for expenses which he did not actually incur. The Court retains continuing jurisdiction to make subsequent changes or new orders for distribution of the property as is reasonable and necessary [Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5(3)]. As was stated in Klein v. Klein, 544 P.2d 472 (Utah 1975), “...we see no reason why the court in its effort to do equity between these parties could not make whatever corrections or adjustments in the decree it deemed necessary to carry out that purpose.” (544 P.2d 472, 475.) The Klein case involved changes made by the trial court without an initial finding that there had been a change of circumstances. In the case of Land v. Land, 605 P.2d 1248 (Utah 1980), the parties were engaged in a dispute over the meaning of the term “equity” in their stipulated divorce. When the trial court attempted to define the term and how it would apply to the case, the Utah Supreme Court stated: “We deem it appropriate for the trial court to

have placed a common usage meaning upon the term and that is precisely what it did. By interpreting the term “equity” as it did, the court made an effort, not to supplant the original agreement, but simply to construe it in the manner as contemplated by the parties at the time it was drafted.” (605 P.2d 1248, 1251). Certainly, if a trial court can interpret common usage terminology in a stipulation between parties, it has the authority in its discretion to interpret its own orders.

This case is distinguishable from many others involving disputes over property distributions following a divorce, in that the majority of those cases involved stipulations of the parties which were approved by the Court and then embodied in a final Decree of Divorce. For example, in Williams v. Shearwood, 688 P.2d 475, (Utah 1984), the trial court refused to modify a stipulated order granting an easement. Having first interpreted the language of the stipulation and order to grant an unconditional easement, and not an easement by necessity, (an interpretation not challenged by the Utah Supreme Court, and not considered a modification of the prior order), the trial court then found that the need for the easement still existed. That finding was affirmed on appeal. However, in this case there was no such stipulation, and the procedure for dividing the California property was established by the Court itself following trial. There is, therefore, no contract or agreement of the parties to be enforced, no “rights and privileges voluntarily contracted away” as in Lea v. Bowers 658 P.2d 1213, 1215 (Utah 1983) and the cases referenced therein.

This case is closer to Hagan v. Hagan, 810 P.2d 478 (Utah App. 1991), in which Mr. Hagan was given “fee title ownership” of the marital residence, and Mrs. Hagan

was given the right “to reside in said property for so long as she desires” in the original Decree of Divorce. In a subsequent trial, the trial court found that this right to reside in the marital home was a life estate for Mrs. Hagan, which included her right to rent out the marital residence and receive the rental proceeds without dividing them with Mr. Hagan. On appeal, these findings were upheld, and were not considered modifications of the original Decree but rather merely effects of the language of the original Decree of Divorce.

Likewise, in Busch v. Busch, 71 P.3d 177 (Ut. App. 2003), the trial court was ordered on remand to consider husband’s motion to clarify an earlier divorce decree to determine whether the prior order to pay the parties’ second mortgage was in the nature of alimony which could be terminated upon wife’s remarriage. This was also not considered a modification proceeding, and the trial court clearly was given the discretion to consider making a clarification of the decree.


It was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court in this case to order that Mr. Bayles was not entitled to deduct any expenses of sale which he did not actually incur, when calculating the amount Mr. Bayles owed Mrs. Bayles for her share of the “residence property” (10695 Forbestown Road). It was within the court’s discretion to do equity to avoid giving Mr. Bayles a windfall, by refusing to allow him to deduct as “expenses” amounts which he had not actually paid. It is worth noting that the trial court did not in fact “back out” all expenses which Mr. Bayles did not incur, but only the major expense of real estate commissions. The court has the discretion, and indeed the obligation, to do equity in allocating fairly (and in this case, attempting to allocate equally) the property of the parties

in a divorce proceeding; having done so, the ruling of the trial court should be affirmed.

### **CONCLUSION**

Mr. Bayles has not shown that the trial court abused its discretion when it refused to order specific performance concerning Mr. Bayles' purchase of the "residence property" and of the "lake property". In neither case was there an actual meeting of minds concerning all required terms of the transaction sufficient to create an enforceable contract. The trial court acted within its discretion in determining that Mrs. Bayles should only pay for expenses of sale which were actually incurred by Mr. Bayles, thereby avoiding a windfall to Mr. Bayles. This ruling was consistent with the intention of the trial court throughout this divorce proceeding that the parties would share equally in the proceeds of their assets.